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The crime defined by Section 951 is complete upon knowingly acting in the United States 
as an unregistered foreign-government agent.  18 U.S.C. § 951(a).  The statute does not require 
willfulness, and knowledge of the notification requirement is not an element of the offense.  United 
States v. Campa, 529 F.3d 980, 998-99 (11th Cir. 2008); Duran, 596 F.3d at 1291-94; Dumeisi, 
424 F.3d at 581. 
 

The Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA) generally makes it illegal to act as an agent 
of a foreign principal by engaging in certain (largely political) activities in the United States 
without registering with the Attorney General.  22 U.S.C. §§ 611-621.  The triggering agency 
relationship must be with a foreign principal or “a person any of whose activities are directly or 
indirectly supervised, directed, controlled, financed, or subsidized in whole or in major part by a 
foreign principal.”  22 U.S.C. § 611(c)(1).  That includes a foreign government or political party 
and various foreign individuals and entities.  22 U.S.C. § 611(b).  A covered relationship exists if 
a person “acts as an agent, representative, employee, or servant” or “in any other capacity at the 
order, request, or under the [foreign principal’s] direction or control.”  22 U.S.C. § 611(c)(1).  It 
is sufficient if the person “agrees, consents, assumes or purports to act as, or who is or holds 
himself out to be, whether or not pursuant to contractual relationship, an agent of a foreign 
principal.”  22 U.S.C. § 611(c)(2).  
 

The triggering activity is that the agent “directly or through any other person” in the United 
States (1) engages in “political activities for or in the interests of [the] foreign principal,” which 
includes attempts to influence federal officials or the public; (2) acts as “public relations counsel, 
publicity agent, information-service employee or political consultant for or in the interests of such 
foreign principal”; (3) “solicits, collects, disburses, or dispenses contributions, loans, money, or 
other things of value for or in the interest of such foreign principal”; or (4) “represents the interests 
of such foreign principal” before any federal agency or official.  22 U.S.C. § 611(c)(1).    
 

It is a crime to engage in a “[w]illful violation of any provision of the Act or any regulation 
thereunder.”  22 U.S.C. § 618(a)(1).  It is also a crime willfully to make false statements or 
omissions of material facts in FARA registration statements or supplements.  22 U.S.C. 
§ 618(a)(2).  Most violations have a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment and a $10,000 
fine.  22 U.S.C. § 618.   
 

b.  Application 
 
The investigation uncovered extensive evidence that Paul Manafort’s and Richard Gates’s 

pre-campaign work for the government of Ukraine violated FARA.  Manafort and Gates were 
charged for that conduct and admitted to it when they pleaded guilty to superseding criminal 
informations in the District of Columbia prosecution.1280  The evidence underlying those charges 
is not addressed in this report because it was discussed in public court documents and in a separate 
                                                 

1280 Gates Superseding Criminal Information; Waiver of Indictment, United States v. Richard W. 
Gates III, 1:17-cr-201 (D.D.C. Feb. 23, 2018), Doc. 203; Waiver of Trial by Jury, United States v. Richard 
W. Gates III, 1:17-cr-201 (D.D.C. Feb. 23, 2018), Doc. 204; Gates Plea Agreement; Statement of Offense, 
United States v. Richard W. Gates III, 1:17-cr-201 (D.D.C. Feb. 23, 2018), Doc. 206; Plea Agreement, 
United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr., 1:17-cr-201 (D.D.C. Sept. 14, 2018), Doc. 422; Statement of Offense, 
United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr., 1:17-cr-201 (D.D.C. Sept. 14, 2018), Doc. 423. 
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prosecution memorandlml submitted to the Acting Attomey General before the original indictment 
in that case. 

In addition, the investigation produced evidence of F ARA violations involving Michael 
Flynn. Those potential violations, however, concerned a cOlmhy other than Russia (i.e., Tmkey) 
and were resolved when Flynn admitted to the illlderlying facts in the Statement of Offense that 
accompanied his guilty plea to a false-statements charge. Statement of Offense, United States v. 
Michael T. No. 1:17-cr-232 (D.D.C. Dec. 1, 20 17), Doc. 4 Statement of 
Offense,,) .1281 

The investigation did not, however, yield evidence sufficient to sustain any charge that any 
individual affiliated with the TlUmp Campaign acted as an agent of a foreign principal within the 
meaning ofF ARA or, in tenns of Section 95 1, subject to the direction or control of the government 
of Russia , or any official thereof. In particular, the Office did not fmd evidence likely to prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt that Campaign officials such as Paul Manafort, George Papadopoulos, 
and Cal1er Page acted as agents of the Russian at its 2l!!!:!!!£!!. 

the relevant time 1282 
• • . . (O) (OJ, (O) (b), (O) {/ )(l,;) 

IIBIil!!IIll!l"Ij'W1i!!IilI!]' 1!!!.1I!Il!i!!Il.m· ... <" . <bll'l, 

F ARA or Section 951 , or attempting or cOlrrsfliring to do so, based on contacts with the Russian 
government or a Russian principal. 

Finally, the Office investigated whether one of the above campaign advisors---George 
Papadopoulos-acted as an agent of, or at the direction and control of, the government of Israel. 
While the investigation revealed significant ties between Papadopoulos and Israel (and search 
warrants were obtained in part on that basis), the Office ultimately detennined that the evidence 
was not sufficient to obtain and sustain a conviction lmder F ARA or Section 951 . 

3. Campaign Finance 

Several areas of the Office 's investigation involved eff011s or offers by foreign nationals to 
provide negative infornIation about candidate Clinton to the Tmmp Campaign or to distribute that 
infornlation to the public , to the anticipated benefit of the Campaign. As explained below, the 
Office considered whether two of those efforts in pal1icular-the June 9, 2016 meeting at Tnmlp 

12112 On four occasions, the Foreign Intelligence SUlveillance Court (FISC) issued warrants based 
on a fmding of probable cause to believe that Page was an agent ofa foreign power. 50 U.S.c. §§ ISO I(b), 
IS05(a)(2)(A). TIle FISC's probable-cause fmding was based on a different (and lower) standard than the 
one goveming the Office 's decision whether to bring charges against Page, which is whether admissible 
evidence would likely be sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Page acted as an agent of the 
Russian Federation during the period at issue . Cf United States v. Cardo=a, 713 F.3d 656, 660 (D.c. CiT. 
2013) (explaining that probable cause requires only "a fair probability," and not "certainty, or proof beyond 
a reasonable doubt, or proof by a preponderance of the evidence"). 
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